IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHAWN MICHAEL SINGLETON

V.

,

NO. 2007-KA-00911-COA

FILED

NOV 28 2007

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Glenn S. Swartzfager, North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Shawn Michael Singleton

FILI

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHAWN MICHAEL SINGLETON

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

NO. 2007-KA-00911-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shawn Michael Singleton was charged with the capital murder of Elmer "Shubbie" Dobbins. (C.P. 4; R.E. 3-4). The case was tried on May 1 and May 2, 2007, and Singleton was convicted of capital murder. (C.P. 43; R.E. 4). After a further hearing before the Court sitting without a jury, Singleton was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. (C.P. 43; R.E. 4). Shawn Michael Singleton is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State in this case repeatedly and intentionally elicited prejudicial information from the confession of a deceased individual, Doris Vann, who allegedly participated in the crime for which the Appellant was charged. The Appellant did not have a prior opportunity to cross-examine Vann regarding her confession, and therefore his right to confrontation guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as Article III, section 26 of the Mississippi

constitution, was violated. *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), controls, and the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

FACTS

On or about July 26, 2005, Joseph McHenry called and asked the Appellant, Shawn Michael Singleton, to come over to his house and give him a ride to the liquor store. Singleton went over to McHenry's house and brought his fiancé, Doris Vann, with him. (Tr. 225). The three got into the car and drove to the liquor store where McHenry got out of the car and purchased a bottle of vodka. (Tr. 225).

The three then drove to Elmer "Shubbie" Dobbins' house. (Tr. 225). Singleton and Vann got out of the car in order to borrow some money from Dobbins. McHenry stayed in car. (Tr. 247). Singleton and Vann got back in the car, and after riding around for a while longer, the three returned to Dobbins' house. (Tr. 250). Singleton and Vann got out of the car again, and McHenry again stayed in the car where he laid down in the backseat because he was drunk. (Tr. 241-47). McHenry was drifting in and out of consciousness because of the amount of alcohol he had consumed that day. (Tr. 247).

McHenry testified that when Singleton got back in the car, he had blood on his hand and stated that he had stabbed Dobbins. (Tr. 244). However, McHenry admitted that he did not tell the police about the blood on Singleton's hands while being interviewed, and further, that he specifically told the police that Singleton did not state he had done anything when he got back into the car. (Tr. 245-46).

Dobbins was found by his son the next day. (Tr. 76-79). An autopsy revealed that Dobbins had been stabbed with a screwdriver and suffered severe and fatal head injuries. (Tr. 161-72). The wounds by the screwdriver were superficial and did not contribute to the cause of death. (Tr. 157;

172).

McHenry, Vann, and Singleton were all subsequently arrested by law enforcement. All three gave statements. (Tr. 134; 141; 221). Before she could be tried, however, Vann died. (Tr. 145). McHenry, also charged with capital murder, cut a deal with the State so that he would only have to serve four years on a reduced charge of accessory after-the-fact in exchange for testifying against Singleton. (Tr. 236-37). Thus, Singleton was the only one of the three who stood trial.

After a trial lasting two days, the jury found Singleton guilty of capital murder. The State of Mississippi had previously waived the death penalty, and Singleton waived a jury on the sentencing portion of the trial. (Tr. 318-19). Thus, the Court sitting without a jury, determined that Singleton should be sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.¹ (Tr 326-27; C.P. 43; R.E. 4).

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WHEN THE TRIAL COURT, OVER THE OBJECTIONS OF DEFENSE COUNSEL, ALLOWED THE STATE TO INFORMATION FROM THE CONFESSION DORIS VANN GAVE TO LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICIALS.

A. Standard of Review.

Generally, the standard of review regarding the admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Yoste v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 822 So.2d 935, 936 (Miss.2002). However, because this issue involves a constitutional right, the standard of review is de novo. *Morris v. State*, 963 So.2d 1170 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007); *Turner v. State*, 945 So.2d 992 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007); *Penny v. State*, 960 So.2d 533 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006); *Baker v. State*, 802 So.2d 77, 80 (Miss. 2001).

¹Functionally is makes no difference as to whether Singleton was sentence to life imprisonment with or without parole as he would not have been eligible for parole even if sentenced to life imprisonment with parole. See Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-3.

2. The Appellant Was Denied His Right to Confrontation.

During Singleton's trial, the State on several occasions elicited information regarding Doris Vann's confession. Specifically, the State elicited testimony that Vann's confession corroborated Singleton's statement. Vann died before trial, and Singleton did not have a prior opportunity to cross-examine Vann regarding her confession, thereby violating his right to confrontation.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantee the right of any person accused of a crime to be confronted with the witnesses against him or her. This right to confrontation applies to testimony in court, as well as statements made out of court. *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 50-51 (2004). Furthermore, the right to confrontation is deemed a fundamental right which cannot be waived for the lack of an objection. *Hobgood v. State*, 926 So.2d 847, 852 (Miss. 2006). Moreover, "Guarantees secured by the confrontation clause exist separate and apart from the hearsay rules of evidence." *Balfour v. State*, 598 So.2d 731, 750 (Miss. 1992).

As previously noted, the right to cross-examine is guaranteed by both the United States and the Mississippi constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Miss. Const. art. 3, § 26. In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), the United States Supreme Court held that "the Sixth Amendment demands what the common law required: unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 at 68-69. The *Crawford* Court went on to say, "Where testimonial statements are at issue, the only indicium of reliability sufficient to satisfy constitutional demands is the one the Constitution actually prescribes: confrontation." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. at 68-9 (footnote omitted).

In Clark v. State, the Mississippi Supreme Court observed:

Eight years after *Bruton* was decided, this Court announced the following procedural rule:

[I]n such cases, the prosecution should not offer, and the trial judge should not admit, in evidence, incriminating statements of a co-defendant (implicating the defendant) during the state's case-in-chief, since it could not be known whether the co-defendant would testify after the state rested.

Brown v. State, 340 So.2d 718, 721 (Miss.1976).

Clark v. State, 891 So.2d 136, 140 (Miss. 2004).

Indeed, *Clark* is almost directly on point. There, the Mississippi Supreme Court found, "Similarly, Clark's accomplice, Barnes, unquestionably gave a testimonial statement to Officer Rusty Keys regarding the armed robbery of the Amoco. Although Barnes initially took the stand at trial, he promptly informed the trial court that he would not testify. After deliberation by the trial court, Officer Keys was allowed to read Barnes's statement to the jury in spite of Clark's objection." *Clark v. State*, 891 So.2d at 140. The Court went on to hold, that "Consequently, Clark was not afforded an opportunity to cross-examine Barnes. This is the very kind of violation that *Crawford* seeks to abolish. Therefore, the trial court erred in admitting Barnes' testimonial statement where and [sic] Clark lacked an opportunity for cross-examination of Barnes." *Id.*

Here, the trial court did not allow Vann's confession into evidence. However, the trial court did allow the State to compare Vann's confession to Singleton's statement on several occasions and to elicit evidence as to whether *vel non* they were consistent with one another. (Tr. 141; 150; 205-06). Critically, one of the State's witnesses, Sheriff Todd Kemp, was allowed to testify over defense counsel's objection that Singleton's statement was corroborated by Vann's confession. (Tr. 141; 205-06). The following exchange took place:

Q. [W]hen you and Sheriff Lolley and Doris Vann went to – back to the crime scene and then took your trip where she was directing you to go to this place and go to that place and the items were found, how did that – that route compare to the route that described in Mr. Singleton's

statement?"

A. Pretty much to a T.

Q. Okay. And as a whole, the statement that Doris Vann gave and the statement that Mr. Singleton gave, were they – did they appear consistent to you?

(Tr. 141). Defense counsel objected before the witness could answer, but it was overruled by the trial court.

A. Yes, sir, it was.

(Tr. 142).

A few moments later, the following exchange took place:

Q. When you went back to interview him on the 28th; what, if anything, did you tell him about what had happened since the last time you had talked that would have made him give this statement?

A. I told him that I had spoken with Doris Vann and she had told me what we believed -

MR. STEPHENSON: - Judge

A. - at that point to be the truth.

MR. STEPHENSON: -I object to -I know what he's getting at here; but, you know, once again, he's getting into what Doris Vann said. And it's - they—re going to argue that, you know, it's consistent and all this kind of stuff, and it's confrontation and hearsay.

MR. ANGERO: Judge, he didn't say that.

THE COURT: Well, the objection is overruled. I think he can tell about what was different from prior statements, and he confronted him with a new statement from the alleged co-defendant. Is that what happened?

A. Yes, Sir, that's correct, Judge.

6

(Tr. 149).

At the time the jury heard the above testimony, Sheriff Kemp had already testified that Doris Vann had agreed to cooperate with law enforcement when she gave her confession. (Tr. 134). Thus, once the jury heard that Vann cooperated with law enforcement and that her confession corroborated Singleton's statement, the jury could not help but know that Vann implicated Singleton in her confession. Vann died before trial, and Singleton did not have a prior opportunity to cross-examine Vann regarding her confession. Therefore, Singleton's right to confront Vann regarding her confession was violated, and the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

Undoubtedly, the State will argue that *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200 (1987) is applicable here. The Mississippi Court of Appeals discussed *Richardson* in *Broomfield v. State*, 878 So.2d 207, 217 (Miss.Ct.App. 2004):

In *Richardson*, the co-defendant's testimony was not incriminating on its face, and became so only when linked with evidence introduced later at trial. The United States Supreme Court held "that the confrontation clause is not violated by the admission of a nontestifying co-defendant's confession with a proper limiting instruction when ... the confession is redacted to eliminate not only the defendant's name, but any reference to his or her existence." *Id.* at 211, 107 S.Ct. 1702.

Broomfield v. State, 878 So.2d 207, 217 (Miss.Ct.App. 2004)(quoting *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200, 207 (1987)(emphasis added)).

Richardson, however, is distinguishable from the present case. As can be seen, *Richardson* requires that any reference to the defendant's name and existence be redacted. In the present case no only was Singleton's name and existence was not deleted from the information conveyed to the jury from Vann's confession as required by *Richardson*, but the State intentionally sought to elicit information comparing Vann's confession to Singleton's statement. Furthermore, *Richardson* requires the trial court to give a proper limiting instruction to the jury regarding the co-defendant's

confession. No limiting instruction or any kind of admonition was given to the jury regarding the use of Vann's confession. Accordingly, *Richardson* is not applicable to the case *sub judice*.

CONCLUSION

As shown above, the Appellant in this case, Shawn Michael Singleton was denied his constitutional right to confront his accuser, Doris Vann. Accordingly he prays that the Court will reverse his conviction and remand to the Circuit Court of Clark County for a new trial.