IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

SHAWN MICHAEL SINGLETON

JAN 25 2008

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-0911

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ANY VIOLATION OF THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE WAS HARMLESS ERROR. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Defendant, Shawn Michael Singleton, Doris Vann, and Joseph "Joey" McHenry were riding around drinking and doing drugs when they decided to rob Elmer "Stubbie" Dobbins. (Exhibit 8). The Defendant and Ms. Vann got out of the vehicle outside Mr. Dobbins' residence and walked around to his shop. (Exhibit 8). The Defendant and Mr. Dobbins began "tusseling" during which the Defendant stabbed Mr. Dobbins two times with a screwdriver and Ms. Vann began beating him with a hammer. (Exhibit 8). After the Defendant stabbed Mr. Dobbins, he dropped to the ground and the Defendant went back to the car. (Exhibit 8). When Ms. Vann returned to the vehicle, she had cash. (Exhibit 8). The three individuals then continued to drive around making numerous stops to purchase drugs and alcohol. (Exhibit 8).

The Defendant was later arrested, tried, and convicted of capital murder. He was sentenced to serve life in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Any violation of the confrontation clause was harmless error in light of the overwhelming evidence of the Defendant's guilt.

ARGUMENT

The Defendant argues that he was denied his right to confrontation when the trial court allowed Sheriff Todd Kemp to testify that Ms. Vann's statement to police was consistent with the Defendant's statement to police. However, any error in allowing this testimony was harmless. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held on numerous occasions that a violation of the Confrontation Clause can be subjected to harmless error review. *Rogers v. State*, 796 So.2d 1022, 1028 (Miss. 2001); *Earl v. State*, 672 So.2d 1240, 1243 (Miss. 1996); and *Clark v. State*, 891 So.2d 136 (Miss. 2004). In fact, the *Clark* Court held that "even errors involving a violation of an accused's constitutional rights may be deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the weight of the evidence against the accused is overwhelming." 891 So.2d at 142 (quoting *Riddley v. State*, 777 So.2d 31, 35 (Miss. 2000). The *Clark* Court then quoted *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1438, 89 L.E.2d 674 (1986) as follows:

[w]e hold that the constitutionality improper denial of a defendant's opportunity to impeach a witness for bias, like other confrontation clause errors, is subject to *Chapman* harmless-error analysis ... Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors, all readily accessible to reviewing courts. These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Id.

In the case at hand, the evidence against the Defendant is overwhelming and includes his own

confession which reads in pertinent part as follows:

On Tuesday, July 26, 2005, me and Doris Vann Freeman went to Mr. Shubbie Dobbins residence to borrow money. He gave the two of us a \$20 bill. Then Doris and I went to Gilbertown. . . . We all three (Doris [Vann], Joey [McHenry], and myself) left the Melvin Store and while we were riding Doris and Joey started talking about going and robbing Mr. Shubbie. We got back to Mr. Shubbie's. Doris and I got out. The two of us stood around talking for a few minutes while Joev was in the car. Me and Shubbie got to tusseling and ended up in the back room of Mr. Shubbie's shop. Doris came on in behind me. Shubbie and I were still tusseling and in the process somewhere I picked up a screwdriver and Doris picked up a hammer. In the process of me stabbing Shubbie twice in the upper left abdomen, Doris was hitting him with a hammer. After the second time, I stabbed Shubbie, he fell. I left the room and went to the car. I do not remember what I did with the screwdriver. Doris stayed in the shop where Mr. Shubbie was for about 1 ½ to 2 minutes. I don't know if she was still hitting him with the hammer or what. I hollered her name and told her to come on. She (Doris) finally came back to the car and we left. We (Doris, Joey, and myself) went down the ro[ad] and I said I don't know if he is dead or not but he dropped after the second time I stabbed him. Doris then said if he ain't dead then he will be a vegetable because I beat him in the head.... Doris gave Joey a \$100 bill and Joey got out of the car and got \$100 worth of crack from Jerry . . . Doris gave me \$100 and I went in and got \$40 worth of crack. . . . Doris said we need to get rid of our clothes.

(Exhibit 8). Moreover, the Defendant's parents' car, a white Ford Taurus, was searched and a Clover Valley Root Beer can was found in it which is the same type of can found at the scene of the murder. (Transcript p. 109). Also, police were informed that a white Ford Taurus was seen leaving the victim's residence on the day of the murder. (Transcript p. 129). Furthermore, Mr. McHenry testified that when the Defendant and Ms. Vann got back into the vehicle, the Defendant was holding a screwdriver, had blood on his hand, and stated that he stabbed the victim two times. (Transcript p. 229 - 231). Mr. McHenry also testified that the Defendant and Ms. Vann did not have money when they got out of the car at the victim's house but did have money when they returned to the car. (Transcript p. 231).

Further, Sheriff Kemp's testimony regarding Ms. Vann's statement itself establishes that her statement was "merely cumulative of other overwhelming and largely uncontroverted evidence

properly before the jury." Additionally, Sheriff Kemp's testimony regarding Ms. Vann's statement was not important to prosecuting the Defendant's case in any way as the Defendant's guilt was already established in substantial part by his own confession. As such, the admission of Sheriff Kemp's testimony regarding Ms. Vann's statement was harmless error and therefore, the Defendant is not entitled to reversal.

CONCLUSION

The State of Mississippi respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the conviction and sentence of Shawn Michael Singleton as any violation of the confrontation clause was harmless error.